STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Greenville County
Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5953 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed November 30, 2022)

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

NYQUAN TYKIE BROWN,

PETITIONER.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000166

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

Nov 27 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeals err by holding the implied malice instruction given in this case—that malice can be inferred if one kills another during the commission of a felony—was not an impermissible comment on the facts and did not eliminate the state’s burden to prove malice, a crucial element of the offense of murder, beyond a reasonable doubt, and further that any error in giving the instruction was harmless because the only dispute was identity, not malice?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Greenville County grand jury indicted Petitioner on October 31, 2017 for murder, armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 358. His case was called to trial on September 3, 2019 before the Honorable Edward W. Miller, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitor Mark Moyer represented the state, and Thomas Quinn represented Petitioner. R. 1. On September 5, 2019, the jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. R. 353, ll. 3-17. He was sentenced to forty-five years for murder, thirty years for armed robbery, and five years for the weapons offense. The judge ordered all sentences be served concurrently. R. 357, ll. 12-17.

On November 30, 2022, after briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions and sentence. State v. Brown, 438 S.C. 146, 881 S.E.2d 771 (Ct. App. 2022). On December 15, 2022, Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing. App. 8. By order filed January 4, 2023, the Court of Appeals denied the petition. App. 19.

Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari with this Court on February 21, 2023. The state filed a return on April 13, 2023. By order dated October 27, 2023, this Court granted certiorari. This brief of petitioner follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In December 2016, Karla Coleman and Whitney Parham, who are sisters, lived together in Apartment 31-B in Shemwood Crossing in Greenville. Coleman's two year old daughter and Parham's two young sons also lived in the apartment. R. 64, l. 13 – 65, l. 13; R. 82, ll. 11-23. Fred Anderson, a family friend, frequently slept on the couch in the living room downstairs. R. 65, ll. 14-20; R. 82, l. 24 – 83, l. 16. Anderson was known to sell marijuana. R. 72, ll. 9-14; R. 83, ll. 17-22.

Shortly after ten o'clock on the night of December 8, 2016, two masked men entered Coleman and Parham's apartment through the unlocked front door. R. 67, l. 20 – 68, l. 12. Anderson and Parham were sitting on a chair together with Coleman's daughter watching a movie. R. 66, ll. 2-14. Coleman and her boyfriend were upstairs along with Parham's sons. R. 66, ll. 15-21; R. 84, l. 16 – 85, l. 1. The masked men began demanding "weed and money" and ordered Anderson and Parham to get up. R. 71, ll. 3-25. The shorter of the two was armed with a pistol. R. 70, ll. 24-25. The men "went for the chair." Anderson stored his marijuana in a mason jar under a cushion in the chair. R. 72, ll. 1-19. Anderson ultimately gave the men the mason jar and thirty dollars in cash from his pocket. R. 73, ll. 5-16; R. 88, ll. 1-8.

Coleman's daughter was screaming. The men allowed Parham to bring the child upstairs. After Parham gave the child to her mother and hid her sons in a closet, she went back downstairs so the masked men would not come looking for her. Parham stood at the bottom of the stairwell. While she could see the front door, her view of the living room was blocked. R. 73, l. 23 – 74, l. 25. The man with the gun was standing at the bottom of the stairs in front of Parham. R. 75, ll. 16-20. "He just stood there watching with the gun pointed" toward Anderson. R. 76, ll. 2-8. Parham heard the other man repeatedly ask, "Where's the wallet?" R. 75, ll. 1-5. Anderson said

he did not carry a wallet. R. 75, ll. 6-8. Parham heard “commotion” and then “tussling.” R. 75, ll. 8-15. Anderson exclaimed, “I’m not going to fight you because your homeboy is going to shoot me.” R. 86, ll. 3-5. The armed man’s “hands started to shake.” R. 76, ll. 9-11. Parham started backing up because she “knew something bad was about to happen.” R. 76, ll. 12-17. As she was backing up, she heard multiple gunshots. R. 76, l. 21 – 77, l. 7. She ran upstairs and hid in the closet with her children. R. 77, ll. 8-14. She never looked back to see what happened. R. 77, ll. 12-14.

After the masked men fled, Coleman called 911. R. 77, ll. 15-20. Parham went back downstairs. She found Anderson laying at the bottom of the stairs near the front door. He was unresponsive. R. 78, l. 16 – 79, l. 7; R. 30, l. 11 – 31, l. 5. Anderson suffered three gunshot wounds, two to the chest and one to the left upper arm. R. 96, l. 23 – 97, l. 3. He succumbed to his injuries before emergency medical services arrived and was pronounced dead at the scene. R. 61, l. 23 – 62, l. 14.

Shortly after the robbery, law enforcement viewed the surveillance footage from the apartment complex. It showed the two masked men flee the scene on foot. As they were running, the suspects were flagged down by an individual from Apartment 329-C. R. 140, ll. 5-20; R. 32, ll. 2-12. The suspects entered this apartment and remained inside for nearly two minutes before leaving again on foot. R. 140, ll. 20-25. Given this evidence, officers conducted a “knock and talk” at Apartment 329-C. R. 32, ll. 8-17; R. 141, ll. 7-14; R. 208, ll. 1-15.

When officers knocked on the door, they could see individuals running toward the back of the apartment. R. 38, ll. 2-14. Two women eventually answered the door. R. 32, l. 18 – 33, l. 5; R. 38, ll. 15-17. They admitted there were also two men inside. After the officers called to

the men, they ultimately came out as well. R. 33, ll. 1-6; R. 38, ll. 18-21. The men were identified as Jonathan Suber-Perry and Jovante Dodd, who are brothers. R. 209, ll. 13-16.

Both Suber-Purry and Dodd, who were placed in investigative detention, denied that any individuals entered their apartment prior to the officers knocking on the door. R. 210, l. 25 – 211, l. 9. Dodd’s girlfriend, the lessee, consented to a search of the apartment. However, law enforcement found nothing of evidentiary value inside. R. 209, ll. 5-23.

Two or three days later, an investigator was watching the surveillance footage from the apartment complex around the timeframe of the shooting. R. 215, ll. 8-17. About thirty minutes before the shooting, he observed a car park in front of Building 329. The passenger from this car met with a man, later identified as Suber-Purry, standing at the open door of Apartment 329-C. The two entered the apartment. A couple of minutes later, the two left the apartment and walked down the street “just a little bit.” Suber-Purry then pointed toward Coleman’s apartment where Anderson was staying. The passenger then returned to the car, which drove off, and Suber-Purry went back into Apartment 329-C. R. 215, l. 22 – 216, l. 13.

Suber-Purry was arrested on December 13, 2016. He gave multiple inconsistent statements to the police. However, he ultimately identified Petitioner as the individual to whom he met with before the shooting. R. 221, l. 9 – 222, l. 18; R. 229, l. 2 – 231, l. 7.

Suber-Purry, who was eighteen in December 2016, was charged with murder, armed robbery, and obstruction of justice related to this case. The day before Petitioner’s trial, he pled guilty to obstruction of justice. However, his sentencing was deferred until after he testified against Petitioner. R. 158, l. 3 – 159, l. 5. Suber-Purry admitted he hoped his pending murder and armed robbery charges would be dismissed as a result of his cooperation. R. 177, ll. 8-10.

In addition to his charges related to this case, Suber-Purry also had two pending burglary charges for which he was out on bond for when this incident occurred. R. 158, ll. 16-21; R. 175, ll. 3-6.

Suber-Purry's brother, Jovante Dodd, lived in Apartment 329-C in Shemwood Crossing. On December 8, 2016, Suber-Purry was at the apartment with his brother, his brother's girlfriend, Natalie Norris, and another woman. R. 159, l. 6 – 160, l. 8. Suber-Purry knew Fred Anderson. Anderson was his cousin. He knew Anderson stayed at Apartment 31-B and he knew he sold marijuana. Suber-Purry also knew Coleman. He had gone to high school with her. R. 161, l. 15 – 162, l. 9.

Suber-Purry testified that his brother had an "altercation" with Anderson. They had argued "about something." R. 164, ll. 5-9. Suber-Purry later clarified that the disagreement concerned Anderson "selling a little weed and getting a little money." R. 165, ll. 2-5. Dodd "wanted to knock Fred [Anderson] off his high horse." Suber-Purry claimed Petitioner "was the person" who was "sent up there to rob Fred [Anderson]." R. 164, ll. 5-12. About thirty minutes before the shooting, Suber-Purry claimed he pointed out Coleman's apartment, where Anderson was staying, to Petitioner. R. 162, l. 16 – 163, l. 5; R. 165, l. 17-19.

After the shooting, Suber-Purry and Dodd were waiting at the back door of their apartment, 329-C. They saw Petitioner and the other masked man running. Suber-Purry stopped them. All four men entered the apartment. Dodd asked them what happened. Before they could respond, Suber-Purry claimed he went upstairs. R. 167, ll. 9-25. When he came back downstairs, he saw Petitioner and the other man leaving. Suber-Purry claimed he never saw a gun, either before or after the shooting. R. 170, ll. 1-25.

The state argued Petitioner was the shooter based on his height. Parham identified the shooter as the shorter of the two men. She claimed the shooter was shorter than her. She was

five feet and five inches tall. R. 68, l. 11 – 71, l. 2. Suber-Purry claimed Petitioner was short. R. 168, ll. 22-23. The other suspect was never identified. R. 168, ll. 9-21.

How the Issue was Presented Below

During the charge conference, the state requested the trial judge charge the jury that “malice can be inferred if one kills another during the commission of a felony.” R. 290, ll. 6-7. Defense counsel objected to the proposed instruction arguing the charge reduced the state’s burden of proof. He contended the instruction relieved the state from having to prove malice, an element of murder, beyond a reasonable doubt because the jury could merely infer malice if the killing occurred during the commission of a felony. R. 290, ll. 8-20. Defense counsel also argued the instruction was an impermissible comment on the facts. R. 290, ll. 21-22. He asserted the proposed instruction informed the jury that the offense before them is a felony and improperly suggested that a felony had been committed. R. 290, l. 23 – 291, l. 2. In so arguing, defense counsel emphasized that this Court “is starting to make clear [its] difficulty with inferences” such as the one proposed. R. 290, ll. 12-13.

Referencing the felony murder rule, the assistant solicitor argued “the law is pretty well settled that if a homicide happens during the course of a . . . felony, then it is murder. Your Honor is going to instruct the jury that armed robbery and murder are violent crimes.” R. 291, ll. 13-19.

The judge acknowledged that defense counsel “could be correct with respect to the direction in which the Supreme Court’s headed” but maintained the Court had not “gotten there yet” and this case could give it the “opportunity to get there.” R. 291, ll. 22-24. He ultimately overruled Petitioner’s objection to the state’s proposed charge finding “it’s the current state of the law.” R. 291, l. 25 – 292, l. 2.

State's Closing Argument

During his closing argument to the jury, the assistant solicitor argued:

Now, what is murder? Murder is the killing of a person [with] malice aforethought, either expressed or implied. Armed robbery is taking goods or property from the person of another through force or violence while armed with either a real gun or a fake gun. I would spend some time going over that. I don't see the need to in this case because **I don't think there's any question that Fred Anderson was murdered. And it happened during an armed robbery. That means the element of malice has already been subsumed [sic] due to the fact that it [the killing] happened during a felony.**

In other words, *if you kill somebody while committing the type of felony where death is a possible or foreseeable outcome, it's homicide. It's a murder. We have all of that here.* Fred was robbed of money, he was robbed of a little marijuana, probably his phone. His phone was gone, that was probably gone as well. **He was robbed and then he was shot.**

R. 316, l. 21 – 317, l. 14 (emphasis added).

Jury Charge

When instructing the jury on murder, the trial judge explained the state must prove malice. R. 347, ll. 22-25. The judge defined malice as “hatred, ill will, or hostility towards another person. It is the intentional doing of a wrongful act without just cause or excuse and with an intent to inflict an injury or under circumstances that the law will infer an evil intent.” R. 347, l. 25 – 348, l. 5. He further instructed the jury that:

[M]alice aforethought may be expressed or inferred. These terms expressed and inferred do not mean different kinds of malice but merely the manner in which malice may be shown to exist. That is either by direct evidence or by inference from the facts and circumstances which are proved. Expressed malice is shown when a person speaks words which express hatred or ill will for another or when the person prepared beforehand to do the act which was later accomplished. Malice may also be inferred from conduct showing a total disregard for human life. **Malice can be inferred if one killed another during the commission of a felony.** Now, [if] the facts are proved beyond a reasonable doubt sufficient to raise an inference of malice to your satisfaction, this inference would be simply an evidentiary fact to be considered by you, along with all the other evidence in the case. And you give it the weight that you decide it should receive.

R. 348, l. 12 – 349, l. 5 (emphasis added).

Appeal

On appeal, Petitioner argued the trial judge erred by charging the jury that “malice can be inferred if one kills another during the commission of a felony” since the instruction eliminated the state’s burden to prove malice, a crucial element of the offense of murder, beyond a reasonable doubt, and was an impermissible comment on the facts. After hearing argument, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner’s convictions and sentence. State v. Brown, 438 S.C. 146, 881 S.E.2d 771 (Ct. App. 2022).

In its published opinion filed on November 30, 2022, the Court of Appeals acknowledged that “a line of cases suggests [the charge] may be improper because it arguably emphasizes a particular fact in evidence—the commission of a felony.” Id. at 149, 881 S.E.2d at 772. However, the court refused to “reach that question” and instead held that if the charge was error, the error was harmless. Id. The court determined that the “core dispute in this case was identity.” Id. at 151, 881 S.E.2d at 773. It contended that nobody disputed that the “killing was unprovoked and deliberate,” that an armed robbery occurred, or that the decedent’s “killing lacked malice.” Id. While recognizing the state always bears the burden of proving all elements of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt, the court stated it was “not persuaded that an instruction about drawing an inference of malice had any bearing on a case where the undisputed evidence is that an unarmed victim was shot multiple times after he expressly disclaimed any intent to defend himself.” Id.

Despite acknowledging that the court “need not go further to resolve this case” given its holding that any error was harmless, the Court of Appeals proceeded to analyze whether the challenged instruction was an impermissible comment on the facts or burden shifting. Id. at 151,

881 S.E.2d at 774. The court concluded the charge was not a comment on the facts because the instruction did “not imply the circuit court believed Brown [Petitioner] committed an armed robbery.” Id. at 152, 881 S.E.2d at 774. Additionally, the charge did “not suggest the court was attempting to influence the jury to find malice in this particular way, nor did it encourage the jury to give evidence of the robbery any special weight.” Id. After discussing this Court’s opinions in Gore v. Leeke, 261 S.C. 308, 199 S.E.2d 755 (1973), State v. Norris, 285 S.C. 86, 328 S.E.2d 339 (1985), and Lowry v. State, 376 S.C. 499, 657 S.E.2d 760 (2008), the Court of Appeals emphasized that it was unable to “read Gore together with Lowry and Norris and reach a clear conclusion about how felony murder applies in South Carolina and what (if anything) a circuit court should charge with respect to that doctrine.” Id. at 153, 881 S.E.2d at 775.

As to burden shifting, the Court of Appeals maintained that “inference charges are not burden-shifting if they are permissive and not mandatory.” Id. at 154, 881 S.E.2d at 775. In support of this holding, the court cited to Lowry v. State, 376 S.C. 499, 657 S.E.2d 760 (2008); State v. Norris, 285 S.C. 86, 328 S.E.2d 339 (1985), *overruled by* State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009); and State v. Wilds, 355 S.C. 269, 584 S.E.2d 138 (Ct. App. 2003), all of which preceded this Court’s decisions in State v. Burdette, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019) (holding courts could no longer instruct juries that they may infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon); State v. Cheeks, 401 S.C. 322, 737 S.E.2d 480 (2013) (invalidating the instruction that knowledge of the presence of drugs is strong evidence of intent to control the disposition or use of drugs); State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016) (invalidating the instruction that the accuser’s testimony in a criminal sexual conduct case need not be corroborated); State v. Stewart, 433 S.C. 382, 858 S.E.2d 808 (2021) (involving an instruction about knowledge or possession of drugs when drugs are found on property under the defendant’s

control); and Pantovich v. State, 427 S.C. 555, 832 S.E.2d 596 (2019) (involving an instruction on good character alone). Id.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“An appellate court will not reverse the trial [court’s] decision regarding jury charges absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 550, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011) (quoting State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010)) (internal quotation marks omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the court’s decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.” State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 54, 810 S.E.2d 18, 22 (2017) (citing State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 16, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012)).

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred by holding the implied malice instruction given in this case—that malice can be inferred if one kills another during the commission of a felony—was not an impermissible comment on the facts and did not eliminate the state’s burden to prove malice, a crucial element of the offense of murder, beyond a reasonable doubt, and further that any error in giving the instruction was harmless because the only dispute was identity, not malice.

As the Court of Appeals recognized, “this is the first case that has called on [the appellate court] to apply [this Court’s] ‘elevating a fact’ cases to felony murder.” Brown, 438 S.C. at 151, 881 S.E.2d at 774. After discussing this Court’s opinions in Gore v. Leeke, 261 S.C. 308, 199 S.E.2d 755 (1973), State v. Norris, 285 S.C. 86, 328 S.E.2d 339 (1985), and Lowry v. State, 376 S.C. 499, 657 S.E.2d 760 (2008), the Court of Appeals emphasized that it was unable to “read Gore together with Lowry and Norris and reach a clear conclusion about how felony murder applies in South Carolina and what (if anything) a circuit court should charge with respect to that doctrine.” Id. at 153, 881 S.E.2d at 775. Respectfully, this Court should hold the implied malice instruction given in this case is erroneous and it should no longer be permitted.

The trial court erred by charging the jury that “malice can be inferred if one kills another during the commission of a felony” since this instruction eliminated the state’s burden of proving malice, a critical element of the offense of murder, beyond a reasonable doubt and was an impermissible comment on the facts. See S.C. Const. art. V, § 21 (“Judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact but shall declare the law.”); State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 499, 787 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2016).

The Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution require the state prove each element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. Brown, 360 S.C.

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