STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Dec 27 2023

Appeal from Greenville County
The Court of General Sessions
Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Opinion No. 5953 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed November 30, 2022).

Appellate Case No. 2023-000166

THE STATE,.....RESPONDENT,

v.

NYQUAN TYKIE BROWN,.....PETITIONER.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JULIANNA E. BATTENFIELD
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211
(803) 734-6305

W. WALT WILKINS
Thirteenth Judicial Circuit Solicitor

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

DISCUSSION

Judge Miller did not err in instructing on a permissive inference of malice from the killing of another during the commission of a felony as the instruction did not elevate one fact over another nor did it suggest identity. There could be no reversible error.

Judge Miller instructed the jury as follows:

Malice can be inferred if one kills another during the commission of a felony. Now, [if] the facts are proved beyond a reasonable doubt sufficient to raise an inference of malice to your satisfaction, this inference would be simply an evidentiary fact to be considered by you, along with all the other evidence in the case. And you give it the weight that you decide it should receive.

Brown, at 150, 881 S.E.2d at 773.

Petitioner argues that this instruction affected the entire outcome of his trial. He argues that even though the jury was repeatedly instructed that the State must prove every element of murder beyond a reasonable doubt, somehow the singularly-challenged fourteen-word sentence, “malice can be inferred if one kills another during the commission of a felony,” made every juror decide the State did not have to prove malice at all, and instead communicated to the jury that it was instead Petitioner’s job to disprove malice. That is not what occurred. The instruction merely defined malice for the jury, which was conceded by the defense at trial. This Court should affirm.

Here, Petitioner improperly equates the State’s need to prove malice as an element with the need to prove a defendant intended to kill the specific person who died, Brief of Petitioner at p. 21, and that is not the law. As has been said, murder is a general intent crime in the State of South Carolina.¹ “Murder is the killing *of any person* with malice aforethought, either express or

¹ *State v. Foust*, 325 S.C. 12, 15-16, 479 S.E.2d 50, 51-52 (1996) (“[T]his court has recognized that a specific intent is not required to commit murder”); *State v. Johnson*, 291 S.C. 127, 128, 352 S.E.2d 480, 481 (1987) (wrongful intent to injure another may give rise to a finding of malice to support the verdict of murder); *State v. Mouzon*, 231 S.C. 655, 662, 99 S.E.2d 672, 675-676 (1957) (malice as an element of murder does not necessarily require ill-will toward the

implied.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10 (emphasis added). Therefore, the State does not have to prove the person *intended* to kill a specific person or really any person to prove the person is guilty of murder beyond a reasonable doubt. To state it more succinctly, a specific intent to kill is not required under our murder statute.²

Petitioner argues the equation at his trial was this: the jury finds he committed a felony = he committed murder. Petitioner advocates the equation should be this: Person expressly intended to kill a specific person via only the act that killed that person + the person died = murder. However, that is not what the statute or our case law says or supports. The proper equation (accurately advanced at trial) is: A person committed an act + that person had an evil heart that was bent on doing wrong while doing the act + someone died during that act³ + that act was the proximate cause of the death = murder. Therefore, if, as in this case, a person commits an armed robbery intentionally + that person did it with an evil heart + someone died + that armed robbery proximately caused the death = murder under our statute. The evil heart part cannot be skipped and was not skipped here. The jury was not told it was mandatory to so find.

individual injured, but signifies a general malignant recklessness of the lives and safety of others); *State v. Alexander*, 30 S.C. 74, 8 S.E. 440 (1889).

² One need to consider only a few examples to ascertain the error in requiring such specificity, for example: what of an individual’s act of loading 50 women in an 18-wheeler truck with the intent of trafficking them, but some accidentally asphyxiate, and others die from dehydration and the elements; or an individual who tortures another with only the intent of acquiring information, but the person dies; or a woman who poisons her husband with the intent of only making him sick so she could care for him and revive their relationship, but he dies. Murder may take many forms.

³ “Aforethought” means malice exists in the mind of the person before the killing. S.C. Code § 16-3-10 *does not* say the person’s evil heart must arise out of or be a desire to specifically kill a person. The malice element is satisfied if the evil heart was to only commit an unlawful act that causes some type of injury to another. If someone died as a natural and foreseeable result of that unlawful act, the malice element is therefore met under our murder statute.

In *State v. Johnson*, 291 S.C. 127, 128, 352 S.E.2d 480, 481 (1987), as well as many other cases, malice is defined as “the wrongful intent to injure another and indicates a wicked or depraved spirit intent on doing wrong.” That definition *does not* say “intent that the injury result in death” or “the injury must be death” or “the wrong must be murder;” “injure” or “wrong” are not defined. Injury or wrong therefore include burglary, robbery, torture, rape, a kidnapping, arson, etc. Since it is not defined, though, the injury *could be* ever so slight. Therefore, the word “felony” puts a limiting instruction on the word “injure” that only works in Petitioner’s favor.

Petitioner would be more correct if murder were a specific intent crime. But because specific intent to kill is not a required element to prove murder, malice may therefore be (but is not required to be) found in the intent to injure another by way of an inherently dangerous felony⁴ that coincidentally ends in a death. The jury must still find the State proved malice (which again does not mean intent) regardless beyond a reasonable doubt. The State can do that through circumstantial evidence, which “is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances indicating the existence of a main fact.” R. 343.

If an inherently dangerous felony is committed in connection with the killing of any person, that felonious act is part of the *res gestae* of the killing and directly speaks to the defendant’s state of mind. Malice can and must be found in the actor’s heart before the killing for it to be murder. The definitions of malice do not put a time limit cut off as to how far inquiring minds may go back in time to find malice, and rightly so. It just so also coincidentally happens that the facts of the underlying inherently dangerous felony will always⁵ come in in a murder trial. Therefore, the

⁴ Respondent is not aware of an officially specific list of felonies that constitute “inherently dangerous felonies” in this jurisdiction other than perhaps the list of felonies listed as aggravating circumstances that may be considered during the sentencing phase of a death penalty trial in S.C. Code § 16-3-20(C)(1).

⁵ Although Respondent is sure there is some rare or remote exception.

challenged instruction gives the jury a framework by which to think about the felony and, more importantly, limits what they can do with the felony.⁶ But in no way does evidence of the *res gestae* of a murder equal “the jury must check the malice box because the underlying felony was talked about when malice was discussed.” It just means they can.

As was charged in this case, “to the extent the State relies on circumstantial evidence, all of the circumstances must be consistent with each other and when taken together point conclusively to the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt.” R. 343. Many different factual scenarios could result in a jury finding an inherently dangerous felony occurred, but because of some just cause or excuse, could also result in them finding the malice element was not checked. That is why they are instructed to consider all of the facts and circumstances that surround the crime and to ensure they are consistent with each other before finding whether the elements are met for murder. The charge “malice can be inferred if the killing of another occurred during the commission of a felony” is encouraging jurors to ensure the facts of a death and of the existence of malice are consistent with the intent to commit a felony that was not murder. But like a Rule 403 and Rule 404(b), SCRE analysis, finding malice when both a felony and then a separate death occurred is a two-step process.

What is the purpose of jury instructions? To declare the law. S.C. Const. art. V § 21 (1985). The law is declared so juries may clearly decide guilt or innocence based upon it. In this state (as well as many others),⁷ individuals are held accountable for the natural and foreseeable (or

⁶ Or, of course, felonies. No one wants a jury to find intentional possession of less than 28 grams of marijuana, *e.g.*, + someone died because of the possession = murder, although that could be done under the current definitions of malice and the current murder statute. Respondent argues that is why the word “felony” is there.

⁷ See *Accomplice Liability*, <https://nationalgangcenter.ojp.gov/legislation/accompliceliability#6-0>, last accessed December 27, 2023.

probable) consequences of the actions of individuals they set out to commit a crime with.⁸ “Under the hand of one is the hand of all theory [of accomplice liability], one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of the common design and purpose.” *State v. Harry*, 420 S.C. 290, 299, 803 S.E.2d 272, 276 (2017) (emphasis added) (citations omitted). It follows that the perpetrator himself, too, is liable for the natural, probable, and foreseeable consequences of his own actions. If he commits an inherently dangerous felony, he is responsible for all of the consequences. Here, an instruction acknowledging that the jury *could* infer (not must infer) malice through the circumstance of a dangerous felony (and thus be held accountable for the consequences of his actions under the murder statute) lines up with our definitions of malice, which have not changed in this state for decades. Malice is, as has been mentioned, and among other definitions:

[A] wicked condition of the heart. It is a wicked purpose. It is a performed purpose to do a wrongful act, without sufficient legal provocation; and in this case it would be an indication to do a wrongful act which resulted in the death of this man, without sufficient legal provocation, or just excuse, or legal excuse

In its popular sense, the term “malice” conveys the meaning of hatred, ill-will, or hostility toward another. In its legal sense, however, as it is employed in the description of murder, it does not of necessity import ill-will toward the individual injured, but signifies rather a general malignant recklessness of the lives and safety of others, or a condition of the mind which shows a heart regardless of social duty and fatally bent on mischief.

In other words, a malicious killing is where the act is done without legal justification, excuse, or extenuation, and malice has been frequently, substantially so defined as consisting of the intentional doing of a wrongful act toward another without legal justification or excuse.

State v. Judge, 208 S.C. 497, 38 S.E.2d 715 (1946) (emphasis added); *See also* 40 C.J.S., Homicide, § 14.

⁸ *See, e.g., State v. Dickman*, 341 S.C. 293, 295, 534 S.E.2d 268, 269 (2020); *State v. Crowe*, 258 S.C. 258, 265, 188 S.E.2d 379, 382 (1972); John F. Decker, *The Mental State Required for Accomplice Liability in American Criminal Law*, Vol. 60, Issue 2, Art. 1, pp. 348-349 <https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=3872&context=sclr>, last accessed December 27, 2023.

Therefore, if an individual sets out to commit an intentional, felonious act against another and had no legal justification for doing so (*e.g.* proven self-defense or defense of others), and the act (or, felony) was committed with the mens rea of malignant recklessness for the lives and safety of others, it follows that they are responsible for the natural and foreseeable consequence of that wrongful act, including a death. *See Gore v. Leeke*, 261 S.C. 308, 317, 199 S.E.2d 755, 758 (1973) (citing with favor other jurisdictions accepting “the effect that both the nature of the felony itself and the circumstances of its commission are to be considered in determining whether a felony is foreseeably dangerous so as to properly invoke the application of the felony-murder rule.”)

Here, entering a home armed with a weapon with the proven, premeditated intent to harm another through robbing the occupants at gunpoint⁹ had a natural and foreseeable consequence of death, intentional or not, and Petitioner was rightly held accountable under our murder statute. Therefore, the trial judge merely acknowledged that potential pathway to malice. He did not comment on the facts; he did not elevate a fact; he did not presume any fact; rather, he explained the law regarding malice. Therefore, nothing out of the ordinary occurred here.

A natural objection to the above is, “we do not have statutory felony murder in this state.”

Yes, that is true. Statutory felony murder is:

[A] rule that allows a defendant to be charged with first-degree murder for a killing that occurs during a dangerous felony, even if the defendant is not the killer . . . [and] can be convicted of murder even if the defendant did not act with intent or a reckless indifference; the prosecution must show only that the defendant participated in a felony where fatalities occurred.¹⁰

⁹ Respondent acknowledges that malice may no longer be inferred through the use of a deadly weapon. Carrying a weapon is a constitutional right, whereas committing a felony is not. Here, the malice comes from the unlawful break in and the intent to forcibly rob, but it still stands to reason that the killing would probably not have occurred but for the weapon.

¹⁰ <https://www.justia.com/criminal/offenses/homicide/felony-murder/> (emphasis added).

However, unlike other states who separate murder out into first-degree, second degree, felony murder, and others, we only have one general intent murder statute in the State of South Carolina,¹¹ and then voluntary manslaughter (requiring a very specific sudden and uncontrollable heat of passion) and involuntary manslaughter, which only carries 0-5 years. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10; §§16-3-50 to 16-3-60. Therefore, if an individual commits a premeditated killing with a specific intent to kill (commonly known as first-degree murder), they can be convicted under the same statute in this state as an individual who only intended to break into someone's home but ended up intentionally shooting the occupants, whether unintentionally or not (commonly second degree and/or felony murder). The sentencing range is extremely broad in our state, unlike the other states who separate out murder into categories, to account for this.

48 states (including ours) and the District of Columbia utilize the felony murder doctrine in one way or another, through either statutory felony murder (which we do not have) or through common law and/or public policy (which we do have). Only Hawaii and Kentucky do not have murders-committed-during-inherently-dangerous-felony laws.¹² Many states include the necessary proof of a mens rea of recklessness or criminal negligence (or, as argued here, malice), and/or an action committed via circumstances that could reasonably have been known to create a strong likelihood of death, and/or via circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to human life.

To risk being repetitive, malice in this state is “conduct showing a total disregard for human life,” or “a general malignant recklessness of the lives and safety of others.” *State v. Judge*, 208

¹¹ See Footnote 1.

¹² Nazgol Ghandnoosh, Ph.D., The Sentencing Project, *Felony Murder: An On-Ramp For Extreme Sentencing*, FN 6 <https://www.sentencingproject.org/reports/felony-murder-an-on-ramp-for-extreme-sentencing/#footnote-ref-4> .

S.C. at 505-506, 38 S.E.2d at 719-720 (1946). “Malice does not necessarily mean an actual intent to take human life. It may be inferential or implied, instead of positive, as when an act imports danger to another is done so recklessly or wantonly as to manifest depravity of mind and disregard of human life.” *State v. Mouzon*, 231 S.C. at 663, 99 S.E.2d at 676 (1957) (emphasis added). The statute allows malice to be either expressed or implied. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10. Therefore, it follows that, if the State proves an individual intentionally committed an inherently dangerous act against another, with a wicked heart via the mens rea of recklessness or criminal negligence, they have proven malice for the purposes of murder, even if they did not specifically intend to kill the person(s) who died.

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